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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (iF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Standing on a pleasantly shaded square with the town's store buildings grouped closely
around, the Clay County Courthouse is a vernacular Italianate Victorian institutional build-
ing. The two-story brick structure features a cross—gable roof and a front central tower.
The brick bond is one-to-seven common bond; a stuccoed, scored water table reaches to the
base of the first-story windows. The main entrance is through the tower which is located in
the center of the top of the T. The main facade is five bays wide. It consists of a double
door surmounted by a three-light fanlight. The double door has two raised panels in each
leaf; the lower panel is a small square surrounded by a heavy molded strip with small
ornamental blocks in each cornmer. The upper panel is similar but taller, with an arched
head.

The tower, square in section, projects from the main building about half of its width.
The flanking bays at the first level are left blank with segmental-arched windows at the
end bays. The second story has five segmental-arched windows with four—over—-two sash. The
first floor has two-over—two sash. The division between the first and second floors is
marked by a brick band laid in a sawtooth fashion, surmounted by a brick dentil course.
The second-story windows are considerable taller than the first, creating a curious
relationship between the stories. wi

The tower, of brick at the first two levels, is of wood above the peak of the gable.

Each gable contains a large c1rcular louvered ventilator. The first stage of the wooden
tower has scalloped shingles and a pent roof with overhang ornamented by simple brackets
"with pendants. A second, taller stage with paired pilasters at each corner supports a o
“second pent roof similar to the lower but with the brackets closely spaced. There is a ’
_Jlarge vertical vent with louvers in each face of the second stage. The tower is capped by
‘a sharply pitched, cross-gable roof with a circular vent in each gable. The cross-gable .
roof of the building has a wide, moldéd cornice overhang and wide plain frieze. The over-
hang is supported by closely spaced brackets with a scallop design, a pierced wooden circle
in the center of the cross brace, and acorn pendants. The ornamentation carries around

the building, and fenestration is balanced with two bays on each end of the T crosspiece

and the T base being five bays long and three wide.

The building has been extensively remodeled inside but the original floor plan remains
primarily intact. A center hall runs the length of the building with offices flanking the
hall. The second floor, reached by stairs near the front entrance, is reserved for the
courtroom, Floors, walls and ceilings have been re-covered, but interior doors survive.
The interior doors consist of four panels, two long raised panels above and two small
rectangular raised panels below; both have heavy moldings.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Clay County Courthouse, a prominent landmark of the small, mountain county seat
town of Hayesville, is a vernacular Italianate Victorian brick structure whose exterior
appearance remains essentially unchanged. Built during the years 1887-1888, it is of
considerable local architectural and historical significance and still in use as a

courthouse.

Clay County was formed in 1861 from Cherokee County and was named in honor of Henry
Clay. Commissioners were directed to hold their first meeting in the Methodist Church near
Fort Hembree while special commissioners were named to select a_site for the courthouse and
lay out a town by the name of Hayesville. The town was named in honor of George W. Hayes,
a member of the General Assembly who was instrumental in the formation of the county. '

The first courthouse was burned in 1870, and it appears that a makeshift building was
constructed on the site following the fire. The Clay County Board of Commissioner's
minutes of November 2, 1885, "ordered that a contract be made for renting the lower part
of the Masonic Hall for county offices at $7.00 per month; after the window sash are put
in, and a good stove furnished. And the county officers be authorized as soon as practicable
to remove the records, documents, etc., from the courthouse to said hall." Lodge minutes ’
of November 21, 1885, "ordered that county pay to Lodge $5.00 per term of court for use of
Hall and lower room be hired to County Commissioners for term of one year $1.00 per month."
It is also recorded that court was held during 1887 to 1889 in the Presbyterian Church.

Minutes of the Board of Commissioners for the period July 18, 1887, through November
5, 1889, give detailed information concerning the construction of the courthouse. The
board was composed of J. M. Crawford, Chairman, with J. H. Penland and A. B. Brown, members.
On July 18, 1887, there was a called meeting of the board to levy a special tax of twenty-
two cents on every $100.00 worth of property and sixty-six cents on each voter for the
construction of the courthouse. It was "ordered by the Board that G. W. Sanderson go to
Brevard in the county of Transylvania and procure plan and specifications of the courthouse
in said county together with such additional information as will aid the commissioners of
Clay County in the erection of the courthouse." On August 1, 1887, G. W. Sanderson reported
to the board that he had been to Transylvania County to examine the courthouse, but had
been unable to procure specifications and costs as requested. The board then ordered that
J. H. Penland, a member of the board, to go to Macon County and have plans and specifica=
tions for the courthouse drawn. The commissioners minutes of September 5, 1887, show that
a contract was issued to J. A. Slagle "to remove the old courthouse for $5.00 and all old
materials."

On August 15, 1887, there was a called meeting of the board to review plans and speci-

ficatio :
ns of the Macon County Courthouse as drawn by G. W. Bulgin. - (The now-gone Macon E
County Courthouse was similar in its use of brick, bracket cornice, and arched‘windows? but i ‘
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different in detail and plan.) The plans and specifications were adopted by the board
with five pages of specifications containing detailed descriptions covering the dimen-
sions, divisions, excavation, foundation, position of walls, materials to be used,
roofing, cornicing, doors, windows, stairways, plastering, painting, outside steps and
general remarks as to quality of materials to be used, thorough workmanship, and final
inspection. The board ordered the Clerk of Court to advertise for sealed bids for
construction of the courthouse until September 15, 1887, with specifications that the
contractor selected would be given until October 1, 1888, to complete the building.

J. P. Cherry was allowed $15.00 to pay Mr. Bulgin for plans and specifications for the
courthouse. 4

The board met on September 15, 1887, for the purpose of opening bids and awarding
a contract for erection of the courthouse; the contract was awarded to J. S. Anderson
for $7,240.00 W. G. Bulgin was appointed architect and—itmspector of materials and work
on the courthouse.

On November 4, 1889, it was recorded that J. S. Anderson reported his contract
completed and ready for inspection. The board agreed that each commissioner would
choose some suitable citizen of the county to meet the next day at 9:00 A.M. to inspect
the courthouse and make settlement as to any extra work done. The construction and
extra costs of work ($559.50) were approved, making the total cost $7,799.50. The
make-up of the board was changed by the death of J. H. Penland (September 1889) and
his replacement by T. M. Hancock on October 7, 1889.

Twenty—-one years later the original floor had to be replaced (because, it is
speculated, of poor ventilation) and the contract was awarded on February 10, 1912, to
T. C. Lovin and George T. Lane. They replaced the first floor with concrete.

The building continues to serve Clay County as courthouse and office building.
It occupies a central and prominent position in Hayesville, a small, neat mountain

community.
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